RECEIVED

Feb 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOVA PIERRE KNOWLIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000314

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err in refusing to allow appellant to impeach a key fact witness with her pending drug charges?

2.

Over appellant's objection, the trial court allowed the solicitor to ask the alleged victim's mother, "How has this impacted your life?" and to enter a photograph of the alleged victim prior to her injuries. Did the trial court err in allowing this irrelevant and needlessly prejudicial victim impact evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Christova Knowlin was indicted in Horry County for domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and on February 11, 2025, was tried before the Honorable Michael Nettles and a jury. R. 1. Lauree Richardson Ortiz and Catherine Girgan Johnson represented the State. R. 1. Jonathan Hiller represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 198. Judge Nettles sentenced appellant to twenty years' imprisonment. R. 208. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Both evidentiary issues in this case are governed by the abuse of discretion standard. State v. Nelson, 440 S.C. 413, 420, 891 S.E.2d 508, 511 (2023).

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in refusing to allow appellant to impeach a key fact witness with her pending drug charges.

Introduction

The main factual question for the jury in this domestic violence trial was whether the complainant received her injuries at the hands of appellant Christova Knowlin (“Knowlin”) or from a fall several hours after a seizure. It was undisputed complainant had a seizure on the day of the incident. R. 163. When the manager at the hotel where Knowlin and complainant lived called 911, she told the operator complainant had a seizure. R. 59. At trial the manager testified that she only told 911 about the seizure because she was scared of Knowlin. R. 59-60. The trial court did not allow Knowlin to cross-examine the manager about her pending drug charges. R. 43-47.

Complainant’s Seizure and the Aftermath

The Southern Breeze Hotel in Myrtle Beach catered to a long-term clientele instead of tourists. R. 50-51. A police officer testified he was familiar with the Southern Breeze because he “had responded there many times.” R. 94. The hotel and its companion property had a lot of tenants with a mix of daily, weekly, and monthly rentals. R. 51; 63-64. Kimaysh Lyles (“Lyles”) was the Southern Breeze’s property manager. R. 48. She lived in a room on the property. R. 48-49. Knowlin and his girlfriend, complainant, had been living at the Southern Breeze for approximately a month. R. 52.

On the night of September 28, 2023, Lyles’ birthday party was at the hotel. R. 50. Tenants and Lyles’ friends attended. R. 50. Knowlin cooked on the grill. R. 51. Lyles told

Knowlin to bring complainant down to the party. R. 51-52. Knowlin brought complainant to the party somewhere between 7:00-10:00 PM. R. 53.

Complainant sat with everyone at the party while they were waiting to eat. R. 53. Lyles described complainant as a quiet individual. R. 53. Lyles then saw complainant choking on food with her eyes rolling back in her head. R. 53. Lyles' father had epilepsy and Lyles immediately knew complainant was having a seizure. R. 53-54.

Lyles characterized Knowlin's reaction to complainant's seizure as "a little aggressive telling her to snap out of it." R. 54. Lyles told the jury Knowlin was embarrassed by complainant's seizure. R. 54. Lyles "pushed" Knowlin out of the way to attend to complainant and make sure she did not choke on food. R. 54.

When complainant came out of the seizure, she told Lyles she did not want an ambulance. R. 55. Complainant said she just needed to take her medication. R. 55. Lyles said this seizure "wasn't really major," but then a few questions later said she had to help complainant back to her room because complainant "couldn't walk." R. 55. When asked if complainant could communicate, Lyles expressed uncertainty whether her nonverbal responses on the way back to the room were a result of the seizure or just innate reticence saying "it was very hard to tell." R. 55-56. Lyles guessed it was somewhere around 10:00 PM when she and Knowlin helped complainant get back to her room. R. 55-56 Lyles helped them get up the stairwell and Knowlin took complainant into the room. R. 65.

About three or four hours after helping the postictal complainant back to her room, Lyles was back in her room when she heard a loud knock on the door. R. 56. Lyles' husband opened the door and saw Southern Breeze housekeeper T'Kiera Nelson ("Nelson") holding her baby. R. 56. Nelson dropped the baby and her husband caught the child. R. 56-57. Lyles asked

Nelson what was wrong with her. R. 57. Nelson told Lyles that appellant beat complainant and Lyles went up to the room with her husband. R. 82. R. 57.

Lyles let herself into the room with her master key. R. 57. She testified she saw, “Him in the back of her, and she was bent over the mattress. . . . Just laying there crying and bleeding.” R. 57. Lyles said complainant was bleeding from her face and other places on her body and looked like she had been hit. R. 58. “The whole room was a mess.” R. 59. Lyles saw “blood all over the walls” and the room’s furniture askew. R. 59. Lyles helped complainant walk out of the room and called 911. R. 58. EMTs took complainant to the hospital. R. 21-28. An EMT testified that complainant reluctantly told him she had been assaulted. R. 24-25.

Weirdly, the housekeeper Nelson could not remember why she went to Knowlin and complainant’s room when it was nearly midnight. R. 79-80. R. 21. Nelson was not there “to perform housekeeping duties.” R. 84. Nelson was with her boyfriend. R. 80. Defense counsel asked, “So you went to their room, you don’t know why, you knocked first, didn’t get an answer, so you went on in?” R. 85. Nelson replied, “I don’t remember,” to whether she got an answer to her knock, but agreed she went in the room using her key. R. 85-86. During closing argument, defense counsel speculated Nelson may have been attempting to burglarize the room. R. 177. Nelson only worked at the Southern Breeze for “a couple of months.” R. 74.

On direct-examination, Nelson said when she opened the door she saw complainant sitting on the toilet with her face swollen and bloody. R. 80-81. She left to get Lyles. R. 81-82. When Lyles called 911, she testified she “told them that [complainant] just had a seizure.” R. 59. The solicitor asked Lyles, “Why did you tell them that?” R. 59. Lyles replied, “Because he was around, and I didn’t want to make a problem bigger than it was, because I didn’t know how he would act

if I told what really happened. So I just, you know, thought maybe say she had a seizure, and then I told her to tell the ambulance what happened and follow protocol from there.” R. 59-60.

Lyles’ testimony about Nelson’s involvement differed from what she told the 911 operator. R. 67-68. Lyles admitted she told the 911 operator that she received a phone call telling her to come to Knowlin’s room. R. 68. Defense counsel asked on cross-examination, “But today you said it was a completely different of how you became involved?” R. 68. Lyles replied, “Correct. And that night I also told the police that, too.” R. 68. On re-direct, she again confusingly blamed appellant’s presence as why she gave an inaccurate account to 911. R. 71-72.

After the police arrived, Knowlin told them that after getting complainant back up to the room from the party, he left the room again. R. 101-102. When he returned, he found complainant on the floor in the bathroom. R. 102. He tried to get complainant in the bed, tried to clean up the mess, and called Lyles. R. 102. The police said Knowlin had blood on the lower leg of his pants, but none on his shirt. R. 99. An officer testified he recalled a detective inspecting Knowlin’s hands. R. 105-106. The State did not call that detective to testify. Nor did the State call complainant to testify.

Complainant’s injuries were significant. The hospital’s trauma director said she had injuries to her face and a brain bleed. R. 120-121. She had surgery on her eye socket. R. 122. She stayed in the hospital for a couple of weeks until her brain injury improved. R. 121-122. The trauma director on direct examination said it would be difficult to say whether complainant’s injuries were sustained in a single fall because she had injuries on both sides of her face. R. 120-121. On cross-examination, the doctor admitted that depending on where a person fell, they could have injuries to both sides of their face. R. 130. Injuries to the face bleed copiously. R. 131. Complainant was on a blood thinner which the doctor explained can cause more bleeding during

a trauma. R. 124-125. Defense counsel theorized in closing that a fall in the small, enclosed space of a hotel bathroom with many counters and sharp objects could explain complainant's injuries. R. 178-180.

The Hotel Manager's Criminal Record

Before Lyles took the stand the solicitor alerted Judge Nettles that Lyles had a criminal history. R. 43. She told the court that Lyles' only conviction was for a false report to law enforcement. R. 43. Appellant argued this conviction was a crime of dishonesty and he should be allowed to impeach Lyles with it. R. 43-44. The court agreed. R. 44-45.

Referring to Lyles, defense counsel then told the court, "I do believe that she's currently being prosecuted by the Fifteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office, and has an attorney who has a contract with our office." R. 45. Judge Nettles asked the nature of the charge and defense counsel replied it involved drugs. R. 45. The court replied, "Well, you know, just being charged and prosecuted, as we all know, she's presumed to be innocent of all of that. So my initial inclination is that that is not—you are not allowed to bring that up." R. 45.

The solicitor stated she agreed with that ruling and that Lyles was being prosecuted by the Attorney General, not her office. R. 45. She added, "So there has been no deals made with her, no exchanges, no wink-wink, nod-nod. I was perfectly clear today was my first day actually speaking with her attorney." R. 45. After briefly touching on another matter, the solicitor said no proffer agreement or otherwise existed with Lyles. R. 45-46. Defense counsel attempted to press his argument, stating, "That's where I was going. I certainly agree she's innocent until proven guilty, but it was more of—" and the court interrupted him. R. 46. The judge said the solicitor had indicated "as an officer of the court" that no deals had been offered and defense counsel said he accepted the solicitor's statement. R. 46.

Pending Charges are Admissible Evidence of a Witness's Bias

The trial court erred in refusing to permit appellant to impeach Lyles with her pending charges. State v. Sims, 348 S.C. 16, 23-26, 558 S.E.2d 518, 522-24 (2002). Sims recognized that pending charges are relevant to a witness's bias. Id. The Court wrote that, "There was the substantial possibility [the witness] would give biased testimony in an effort to have the solicitor highlight to his future trial judge how he had cooperated in the instant case." Id. Sims also held that defendants may get into the specifics of the pending charges and the amount of time a witness might be facing or avoiding. Id. See also State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171-72, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991) (holding the defense was entitled to ask a State's witness about the potential sentence she avoided to impeach for bias); State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 372, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012) (holding trial court erred in preventing defendant from cross-examining witness about mandatory minimum sentence avoided); Rule 608(c), SCRE ("Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.").

The solicitor's statement to the trial judge that no deal existed should not have prevented appellant from impeaching Lyles about her pending charges. See State v. Mizell, 349 S.C. 326, 332-33, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318 (2002). In Mizell, a State's witness had been charged with the same crimes as the defendants and testified for the prosecution. Id. The Court rejected any argument that the absence of a deal for the witness's testimony meant the defendants could not cross-examine him about his sentencing exposure. Id. "The fact the witness has yet to reach a plea bargain or been found guilty should not prevent the admission of such evidence." Id. "The lack of a negotiated plea, if anything, creates a situation where the witness is more likely to engage in biased testimony in order to obtain a future recommendation for leniency." Id.

The Attorney General's status as the prosecuting officer for Lyles makes no difference, either. The state constitution "firmly establishes the Attorney General as the chief prosecuting officer of the State of South Carolina for both criminal and civil proceedings." State v. Long, 406 S.C. 511, 514, 753 S.E.2d 425, 426 (2014). "The Attorney General shall be the chief prosecuting officer of the State with authority to supervise the prosecution of all criminal cases in courts of record." S.C. Const. art. V, § 24. From the perspective of a witness looking to curry favor with her testimony, the solicitors and the Attorney General would seem to be one entity. The motivation to please the State with her testimony is heightened given she was being prosecuted by its chief prosecuting officer.

Even prosecutions by different sovereigns does not render a witness's pending charges inadmissible. United States v. Landerman, 109 F.3d 1053, 1061-63 (5th Cir. 1997). In Landerman, multiple defendants were prosecuted by federal authorities for white collar crimes. One of the government's witnesses had pending drug charges in state court. Id. The Fifth Circuit reversed because the district judge refused to allow the defendants to cross-examine the witness about his state drug charge. Id. The court emphasized that the jury, not the judge, should have assessed the weight of the pending charge related to the witness's credibility. Id. See also Stevens v. Bordenkircher, 746 F.2d 342, 346-47 (6th Cir. 1984) ("In our view, failure to permit cross-examination of a *key* government witness concerning bias, prejudice, or motive cannot be construed reasonably as harmless error.").

Lyles was a key witness for the State. Her testimony about Knowlin's callous attitude toward complainant during her seizure at the party made Knowlin look bad to the jury. She testified about finding complainant and telling her how to inform the authorities that she had been beaten. Lyles also backtracked on what she told the 911 operator concerning complainant's

seizure. Had the jury learned Lyles was being prosecuted on drug charges, it would have undermined her credibility and made appellant's version of events more likely in the jury's eyes. The limited cross-examination of this witness cannot be harmless in this case and this Court should reverse.

2.

Over appellant's objection, the trial court allowed the solicitor to ask the alleged victim's mother, "How has this impacted your life?" and to enter a photograph of the alleged victim prior to her injuries. The trial court erred in allowing this irrelevant and needlessly prejudicial victim impact evidence.

Evidence about the effect of complainant's injuries on her mother was not relevant. Rules 401, 403 SCRE. Defense counsel warned the trial court the State would try to introduce victim impact evidence through complainant's mother. R. 90-92. Appellant moved in limine to prohibit "any kind of victim impact statement during the State's case in chief." R. 91.

The trial judge initially recognized that such testimony is improper. R. 91. The court responded to appellant's motion by saying, "I noticed there [were] comments about that in the opening statement. As a general rule, it's probably not appropriate to talk about how it impacts a person's life." R. 91. Judge Nettles correctly remembered the State's opening, in which the solicitor began setting the stage for sympathy evidence: "Most importantly, you are going to hear from the victim's family and about how it has impacted her, impacted them, how she can't drive." R. 13.

The State replied that complainant's mother would be testifying about the extent of complainant's injuries to prove great bodily injury. R. 91. Judge Nettles responded, "Well, I think she can talk in a general way about some type of impairment, but we're not going to talk about

how it affects her life.” R. 91. The solicitor continued to argue that the effect on the mother’s life was relevant and that it was the mother’s “personal knowledge.” R. 91-92. The judge told the State to confine the testimony to the complainant’s disabilities, but that the issue before the jury was whether the defendant committed a crime, “not how it has affected them.” R. 92.

The State called complainant’s mother as its last witness. The solicitor asked how her daughter looked at the hospital and the mother replied she had “black and blue bruises on her face.” R. 141. The solicitor then entered a photograph into evidence of complainant before her injuries as State’s Exhibit Five. R. 141. (State’s Ex. 5). Appellant objected to the photograph as “victim impact” and irrelevant. R. 141-142. The court admitted the photograph stating it was “relevant to show what she looked like at the time.” R. 141-142. The photograph shows complainant nicely dressed and smiling sweetly at the camera. State’s Ex. 5.

The solicitor then asked how complainant’s injuries affected complainant. R. 142. The mother replied about complainant’s trouble walking and with coordination. R. 142-143. The solicitor’s next question was, “How has this—how has this event changed your life,” and defense counsel objected. R. 143. Judge Nettles excused the jury. R. 143.

Once the jury left, the solicitor said, “She is her daughter’s caregiver due to these permanent injuries, so I believe her testimony is relevant and outweighs any prejudice.” R. 143. The trial judge then remarked that the testimony could be relevant to whether the complainant suffered a great bodily injury. R. 143. He then stated that he would not allow “any emotional rendition on what is going on. . . .” R. 143. Defense counsel restated his objection that “this would be drawing an undue victim impact into the case in chief, and object on the grounds of 403, more prejudicial than probative, and under 403 also cumulative.” R. 143-144. He pointed out the State established complainant’s injuries with the question immediately preceding the question about the

impact on the mother's life. R. 144. The court said, "Well, I'll allow this question," and brought the jury back into the courtroom. R. 144.

The solicitor's question after the jury returned was, "Ms. Priscilla, I'm going to reask my last question. How has this impacted your life?" R. 144. Complainant's mother replied:

It has impacted my—all of our lives a great deal. A lot of the things that we used to do, we can't do it anymore because, for one, she cannot be left alone. She can't cook unless someone is there. A lot of things that I used to do—I'm in a lot of things. I had to change my whole life in a sense.

When [complainant] first came out of the hospital, she spent two weeks with her sister. And her daughter and I—while Felicia worked—we took turns. I had to get up—I go to work—I have to be at work at 8:00, but I used to get up about 6:30—7 o'clock in order to take [minor child] over to Felicia's house so she can stay with her mom. I get off work at 2:00. I leave work, went straight there, be there until 9:00, 10 o'clock at night.

So after two weeks, [complainant] came with me at my house, and this is where she's been until right now, and it's just hard. Everybody had to kind of turn their life upside down to be there to do things, take her places that—because she can't drive. So it's solely on either—the majority on me, but the rest on her sister, her kids. So it actually just turned our life upside down. We had to do some major changes.

R. 144-145. At this point, without any further objection from defense counsel noted in the record, Judge Nettles said, "Sustained. Sustained. I'll ask you to move on." R. 145.

The State said it had no further questions and appellant did not cross-examine the mother. R. 145. The State then rested, so the mother's testimony about how complainant's injuries affected the family was the last piece of evidence the jury heard. R. 145. The court sent the jury out after the State rested. R. 145-146.

Defense counsel then placed on the record what happened during the above-quoted testimony by complainant's mother. R. 146. Defense counsel said, "I do want to put on the record that as a result of that last question, to which I objected, that witness became emotional, as I

anticipated she would, tissues came out, all of the things that I was concerned about happened.... But I want to put on the record, since the record will be cold, that tissues did come out and [complainant's] mother was very emotional.” R. 146. Neither the court nor the solicitor disputed defense counsel’s description of the emotional testimony by the mother. The solicitor led with this theme when she began her closing argument stating, “A life-changing event for this victim, for her family members, for the witnesses of this case. It has been life-changing.” R. 161.

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