THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Mar 05 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000314

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOVA PIERRE KNOWLIN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29528

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Assuming evidence of a witness's pending drug charges should have been admitted, any such error in limiting Appellant's cross-examination of the witness about her unrelated pending drug charges was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Sixth Amendment right to confrontation, as applicable to the states pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees that a criminal charge may be answered by the calling and questioning of favorable witnesses, the cross-examination of adverse witnesses, and the introduction of evidence. *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994); *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 343 (1963).

"A defendant has the right to cross-examine a witness concerning bias under the Confrontation Clause." *State v. Mizzell*, 349 S.C. 326, 331, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2002). "'On cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality' of the witness." *State v. Brewington*, 267 S.C. 97, 101, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976) (quoting 98 C.J.S. *Witnesses* § 560a (1957)); *see also* Rule 608(c), SCRE ("Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.").

To establish a violation of the Confrontation Clause, a criminal defendant must show "he was prohibited from engaging in otherwise appropriate cross-examination designed to show a prototypical form of bias on the part of the witness, and thereby 'to expose to the jury the facts from which jurors . . . could appropriately draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness.'" *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986) (quoting *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 318 (1974)). However, the trial court retains wide discretion to impose reasonable limitations on the scope of cross-examination. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 174, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991); *accord Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. at 679. "Before a trial judge may limit a criminal defendant's right to engage in cross-examination to show bias on the part of the witness, the record

must clearly show the cross-examination is inappropriate." *Mizzell*, 349 S.C. at 331, 563 S.E.2d at 317. Only if the defendant can establish that he was unfairly prejudiced by such a limitation does that limitation constitute reversible error. *Id.*

However, a "violation of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is not per se reversible error" if the "error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Graham*, 314 S.C. at 385, 444 S.E.2d 527. Whether an error is harmless in this context depends on the facts of each individual case as well as a set of non-exhaustive factors including:

the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684; *see Mizzell*, 349 S.C. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318 (applying *Van Arsdall* factors). Further, "[h]armless beyond a reasonable doubt' means the reviewing court can conclude the error did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt," and in making such a determination, the reviewing court must review the entire record to determine what, if any, effect the error had on the jury's verdict. *Mizzell*, 349 S.C. at 334, 563 S.E.2d at 319.

Assuming that the trial court should not have limited Appellant's cross-examination of Liles concerning her then-pending drug charges and considering the *Van Arsdall* factors, much of Liles's testimony was either cumulative or corroborated by other witnesses. Like Liles, Nelson testified that Victim had a seizure at Liles's party earlier in the evening before the incident. (R. 78-79). Also like Liles, Nelson testified that she found Victim in Victim and Appellant's room in a bloody and emergent state before going to find Liles. (R. 81). Multiple witnesses, including Liles, testified that Victim and Appellant's room was destroyed or otherwise messy and covered in blood.

(R. 58-59, 83, 96). Multiple witnesses, including Liles, testified to the injuries they observed on Victim. (R. 25-27, 38, 58, 61, 81, 111, 119-125, 137, 141-145).

The only testimony that Liles provided which was not otherwise corroborated was the *reason* Liles told the 911 operator that Victim had a seizure despite Liles's assertion that she knew Victim's injuries were likely not caused by a seizure. (R. 59). While this testimony undoubtedly filled in a small gap in the timeline, it is in no way important to the jury determining Appellant's guilt for DVHAN. Paramedic Brandon Young testified that he responded to a 911 call for a seizure patient, that Victim told him in the ambulance, out of Appellant's presence, that she had been assaulted, and that Victim's injuries were not consistent with those of a seizure patient in his experience. (R. 20, 25, 27).

Therefore, the State's case, even without Liles's testimony, was strong, and the trial court's limitation of Appellant's cross-examination of Liles concerning her then-pending drug charges could not reasonably have affected the outcome of this trial. *Compare State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 26, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523-24 (2002) (holding the trial court limiting the scope of the appellant's cross-examination harmless where the State's case against the appellant was strong without resorting to the witness's testimony); *with Mizzell*, 349 S.C. at 334, 653 S.E.2d at 319 (holding the trial court's limitation of appellant's cross-examination of a witness was not harmless where that witness was the *only* witness to testify as an eyewitness to the petitioners' burglary despite much of the witness's testimony being cumulative or corroborated by other witnesses); *State v. Brown*, 303 S.C. 169, 171-72, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991) (holding that the appellant was unfairly prejudiced by the trial court's limitation of his cross-examination of a witness where that witness's testimony was a "critical part" of the State's case as the witness "provided the only evidence of appellant's knowing involvement" in the crime); *and State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 376-77, 731

S.E.2d 880, 887 (2012) (holding that where a defendant's cross-examination of several witness, who were also his accomplices, was limited regarding their potential sentences, such limitation was not harmless because there was no evidence except for these witnesses with suspect credibility that linked the appellant to the indicted offense). Thus, based on the record before this Court, any alleged error in limiting Appellant's cross-examination of Liles regarding her then-pending drug charges did not contribute to the jury's verdict beyond a reasonable doubt.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting the State to ask Victim's mother, Cromedy, how Victim's severe injuries impacted Cromedy's life and to introduce a photograph of Victim prior to her injuries because this evidence was relevant to show that Victim suffered great bodily injury and the probative value of this evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

A. Preservation

Initially, to the extent Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing Cromedy's answer to the State's question of how Victim's injuries impacted her life into evidence, this issue is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant did not contemporaneously object; rather, the trial court stopped Cromedy sua sponte for unknown reasons but likely because Cromedy became emotional. *See S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) ("There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." (quoting Jean Hoefler Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2d ed 2002))).

While Appellant did make a motion in limine well before Cromedy testified concerning Cromedy's testimony potentially containing a victim impact statement, the trial court specifically stated that Appellant still needed to object to anything he found inappropriate during Cromedy's testimony. (R. 91). During Cromedy's testimony, when the State asked Cromedy how Victim's

injuries had changed her life, Appellant immediately objected before Cromedy was able to respond in any way. (R. 143). The trial court reiterated its earlier ruling, stating that the question was relevant for the State's argument that Victim suffered great bodily injury. (R. 143). The trial court also indicated that it would not allow "any emotional rendition on what is going on." (R. 143). However, when Cromedy answered the State's question, Appellant did not object. (R. 145-46). Rather, the trial court, of its own volition, stopped Cromedy's testimony when she began to discuss how Victim's injuries changed her life rather than just Victim's life. (R. 145). Only *after* the trial court stopped the testimony and the jury left the room did Appellant indicate that he thought Cromedy's testimony reached the emotional level the trial court had previously indicated it would not allow. (R. 146).

Therefore, Appellant did not timely object to testimony that he believed went beyond the scope of what the trial court had earlier deemed admissible and instead later indicated his problem was with the testimony becoming overly emotional. (R. 146). Because Appellant failed to contemporaneously object to this testimony *rather than just the State's question*, the issue of whether the trial court abused its discretion in allowing Cromedy's testimony (despite the trial court stopping the testimony sua sponte) is not preserved for appellate review. *State v. Sweet*, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007) (holding that for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, a party must make a "contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court").

B. Merits

A trial judge has broad discretion in ruling on the admissibility of testimony. *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 647, 515 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1999). All relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. Rule 401, SCRE; *see also State v. Alexander*, 303

S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). Although evidence is relevant, it may be excluded if the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs its probative value. Rule 403, SCRE; *see also Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146. Further, a photograph should be excluded if it is calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury or is irrelevant or unnecessary to substantiate facts. *State v. Livingston*, 327 S.C. 17, 20, 488 S.E.2d 313, 314 (1997). "A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). "We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment." *Id.* Even if the evidence was not relevant and thus improperly admitted, its admission may constitute harmless error if the irrelevant evidence did not affect the outcome of the trial. *Langley*, 334 S.C. at 647-48, 515 S.E.2d at 100.

Here, State's Exhibit 5 and Cromedy's testimony regarding Victim's lasting impacts from her injuries are both relevant to whether Victim sustained great bodily injury as required for DVHAN. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20(A)(1) (stating physical harm to one's own household member is illegal); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-65(A)(1) (defining DVHAN as causing physical harm to one's own household member "under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life and great bodily injury to the victim results"); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-10(2) ("Great bodily injury' means bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.").

State's Exhibit 5 showed Victim as she was before she sustained any injuries from this incident. As demonstrated by State's Exhibits 2, 3, and 4, Victim's face was swollen to an almost

unrecognizable state after the incident. Further, Dr. Pepe testified that Victim underwent surgery on her face to stabilize fractures around her eye socket. (R. 122). Therefore, State's Exhibit 5 was relevant for the jury to see what Victim looked like before her injuries and before undergoing surgery on her face so the jury could determine if she suffered serious and permanent disfigurement, which is one way to show great bodily injury. *See generally* § 16-25-10(2).

Further, any danger of unfair prejudice that State's Exhibit 5 may have had did not substantially outweigh the probative value as would be required to exclude State's Exhibit 5 under Rule 403. This photograph shows Victim with a small smile while otherwise not engaged in any activity. As the purpose for this photograph was to provide the jury with a baseline of what Victim looked like before her injuries and undergoing facial surgery, this picture was not prejudicial and cannot be said to have appealed to the emotions of the jury. This picture provided a visual starting point for the jury to determine whether Victim suffered great bodily injury.

Cromedy's testimony concerning Victim's lasting impacts from her injuries was relevant to show that Victim suffered protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ, which is another way the State could show great bodily injury. *See generally* § 16-25-10(2). Unlike *State v. Smith*, where our supreme court noted that witness testimony about *future* injuries or difficulties due to the victim's injuries was not relevant to an attempted murder charge where injuries are not an element of the crime charged, Cromedy testified that due to Victim's injuries and lasting impacts, Victim could not do many things by herself and could not be left alone. 430 S.C. 226, 234 n.9, 845 S.E.2d 495, 499 n.9 (2020); (R. 144-145). Moreover, DVHAN requires physical injury to the victim. § 16-25-65(A)(1). Therefore, Cromedy's testimony was relevant.

To the extent that Appellant argues that the danger of unfair prejudice resulting from Cromedy's testimony substantially outweighed the probative value of such testimony, this

argument is without merit. The probative value of this evidence included showing that Victim suffered a protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ, as is relevant to show great bodily injury. Cromedy testified that due to Victim's injuries, Victim had lasting impairment and complications. (R. 144-145). Despite Cromedy's alleged emotional state during the testimony, the prejudicial value of this evidence in no way substantially outweighs the probative value. *See State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) ("All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only *unfair* prejudice which must be avoided." (quoting *United States v. Rodriguez-Estrada*, 877 F.2d 153, 156 (1st Cir. 1989)) (emphasis in original)). As noted above, to the extent that Cromedy discussed any difficulty faced by herself or her family due to Appellant's injuries, this issue is not preserved for appellate review as Appellant did not contemporaneously object and the trial court stopped Cromedy's testimony sua sponte.

Therefore, because both State's Exhibit 5 and Cromedy's testimony were relevant and the probative value of both was not substantially outweighed by any danger of unfair prejudice, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing their admission.

[conclusion and signature block on following page]